



### **OCCASION**

This publication has been made available to the public on the occasion of the 50<sup>th</sup> anniversary of the United Nations Industrial Development Organisation.



### **DISCLAIMER**

This document has been produced without formal United Nations editing. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this document do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Secretariat of the United Nations Industrial Development Organization (UNIDO) concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries, or its economic system or degree of development. Designations such as "developed", "industrialized" and "developing" are intended for statistical convenience and do not necessarily express a judgment about the stage reached by a particular country or area in the development process. Mention of firm names or commercial products does not constitute an endorsement by UNIDO.

### FAIR USE POLICY

Any part of this publication may be quoted and referenced for educational and research purposes without additional permission from UNIDO. However, those who make use of quoting and referencing this publication are requested to follow the Fair Use Policy of giving due credit to UNIDO.

### **CONTACT**

Please contact <u>publications@unido.org</u> for further information concerning UNIDO publications.

For more information about UNIDO, please visit us at www.unido.org

# 16927-E

UNITED NATIONS INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT ORGANIZATION

Distr.

PPD.87

2 August 1988

ORIGINAL: ENGLISH

UNIDO/NGO Meeting on the Contribution of Women to Human Resource Development in Industry

Vienna, Austria, 22-23 March 1988

REPORT\*

<sup>\*</sup> This report has not been edited.

## CONTENTS

	E	Page
	Introduction	3
	- Objectives and scope of the meeting	3
	- Participants	4
I	Organization of the meeting	4
II	Opening session	5
III	Situation of women in industry: issues, needs and perspectives	7
	- Impact of industrialization on women	7
	- Participation of women in industry	9
	- Constraints and needs	9
	- Perspectives for change	11
IV	Recommendations	13
	- Working Group Sessions	13
	- Recommendations addressed to UNIDO	14
	- Recommendations addressed to NGOs	15
ANNEXES		
I	Agenda	18
II	List of participants with addresses	20
III	Profiles of resource persons	32
TU	UNIDO activities for the integration of wom	en 34

### Introduction

The United Nations Industrial Development Organization (UNIDO) attaches a high priority to the development of human resources for industry and to the potential contribution of women in this endeavour. Aware of the importance of Non-Governmental Organizations (NGOs) as a powerful pressure group on the issue, a UNIDO/NGO Meeting on the contribution of women to human resource development was held on 22 and 23 March 1988 at the Vienna International Centre, Vienna, Austria. organized the meeting in co-operation with the Won-governmental Liaison Service (NGLS), New York, whose work includes forging links between NGOs and the UN System, and enhancing North-South The meeting brought together 52 representatives of international and national NGOs, and was the first meeting of NGOs held under UNIDO auspices to focus specifically on women's issues in industrial development. The meeting coincided with the 32nd session of the Commission on the Status of Women, which was being held at Vienna.

### Objectives and scope of the meeting

The meeting provided a forum for an exchange of views on key issues facing women in a changing industrial environment. Its goals were:

- (a) Greater awareness on the part of national and international NGOs of the potential contribution of women in meeting human resource needs for industrial development and of UNIDO activities in that area;
- (b) Increased knowledge of the opportunities open to women and of their need to participate more effectively in manufacturing activities, both in formal and informal sectors, and of the diverse approaches taken by NGOs to meet that need;
- (c) Increased understanding between NGOs and UNIDO, enhancing prospects for future co-operation;
- (d) Development of initiatives by NGOs at all levels to influence education and training systems of their countries to give attention to women's needs;

Information relevant to the discussions at the meeting was provided in:

(a) The UNIDO report presented to the second session of the General Conference of UNIDO on the Current Participation of Women in Industry in Developing Countries: Future Prospects and Challenges and Priority Areas for Attention (Bangkok 1987, PPD.72);

(b) Three draft country studies carried out in Zimbabwe, Sri Lanka and Nepal on the current and prospective contribution of women to industrial development.

### **Participants**

Participants were:

- Representatives of national and international NGOs from developed and developing countries, active in the area of women in development, economic development and labour relations.
- 10 resource persons from the following developing countries: Bangladesh, Mexico, Nepal, Nigeria, Peru, Sri Lanka, Thailand, Tunisia and Zimbabwe.
- One resource person each from the export division of the Swedish National Employment Training Board (AMU International), and from Women's World Banking, Kenya.

Profiles of resource persons and a list of participants are found in Annex 3 and Annex 2, respectively.

### I. Organization of the Meeting

The programme of the Meeting was:

- an opening session with statements from representatives of UNIDO and the Nongovernmental Liaison Service, New York
- presentations by the resource persons
- general discussion of issues
- a meeting of three working groups on assessing the impact of industrialization on women
- a meeting of three working groups on future challenges and needs of women in industry
- presentation of recommendations by the working groups
- adoption of recommendations by the meeting

  The Agenda of the meeting is given in Annex 1.

### II. Opening session

Mr. Horst Wiesebach, Deputy Director-General, Department for Programme and Project Development, UNIDO, welcomed participants on behalf of the Director-General of UNIDO, Mr. Siazon. He said that UNIDO attached great importance to this dialogue with representatives of national and international NGOs on key issues confronting women in a changing industrial environment. It was for this reason that UNIDO had joined forces with the UN Nongovernmental Liaison Service to organize this meeting.

He thanked the Governments of the Netherlands and Norway, whose financial support had made the meeting possible. They had enabled UNIDO to bring to Vienna resource persons from developing countries in Africa, Asia, and Latin America to present a realistic picture of the situation of women in industry in their countries.

UNIDO's mandate for the integration of women in industrial development dates back to the beginning of the United Nations Decade for Women in 1975, when the Second General Conference of UNIDO underlined in "the Lima Declaration and Plan of Action on Industrial Development and Cooperation" the need for the full integration of women in the industrialization process on the basis of equal rights. After the conversion of UNIDO into a specialized agency in 1985, the first session of the General Conference of UNIDO adopted a decision on the integration of women in industrial development, which, inter alia, stressed the essential role of UNIDO in the implementation of the Nairobi Forward-Looking Strategies for the Advancement of Women as they relate to industrialization. The second session of the General Conference of UNIDO in November 1987 adopted a decision requesting that the Director-General continue implementing the resolution on integration of women on a priority basis.

Human resource development for industry and the potential contribution of women in this context are crucial issues. UNIDO believes it is important that NGOs and multilateral government bodies exchange views, recognizing that NGOs can be powerful pressure groups in these matters. Mr. Wiesebach looked forward to the outcome of the meeting, and wished it every success.

The Co-ordinator for Integration of Women in Industrial Development, Department for Programme and Project Development, UNIDO, said she was very happy to have the opportunity to interact with NGOs at a meeting on the problems and challenges women in developing country industries are facing today.

She drew the meeting's attention to the situation of rural women who are displaced from agriculture as a result of the introduction of improved methods of production and processing. As alternative economic activities for these women are few, their

employment and entrepreneurship in small-scale and cottage industries, particularly in such areas as food processing and textiles, can provide viable income earning possibilities for women. But women require support and guidance in their endeavours to find market niches not directly competitive with large-scale manufacturing sectors. Co-operatives, bulk-buying arrangements, and collective marketing are some of the options which can be developed.

On the other hand, millions of women are employed in the modern manufacturing sector, and the vast majority are in low-skilled, poorly rewarded jobs. When new technologies are introduced, these jobs are in danger of being lost to machines or to men who are better trained in their use. Industrialization therefore has profound implications for women, particularly as regards their need to be competitive in the job market.

Ms. Joyce Yu, Consultant, NGLS, said the workshop provided an unique opportunity for dialogue among international NGOs, national NGOs from industrialized countries, and resource persons from developing countries. Women-in-Industry is an important concern for NGOs given the increasing participation of women in industry, and their vulnerability in the context of changing patterns of industrialization. Women in the industrial sector in developing countries are among the lowest paid and the least skilled, and have the worst working environment.

The workshop would allow country representatives to: identify constraints arising from issues of gender and subordination; examine commonalities, differences and challenges; and strengthen links across countrie; and continents. UNIDO's role in making this interaction possible is greatly appreciated.

The Head of UNIDO's Regional and Country Studies Branch, Department for Programme and Project Development, outlined UNIDO's concern for human resource development for industrialization. He referred to the history of industrial development in terms of perceptions regarding the major stumbling blocks to overcome. In the beginning there was emphasis on developing natural resources. Then in the 1970's mobilization of foreign and domestic financial resources to effect change came into focus. In the 1980's, the acceleration of technological innovation and the introduction of new technological production processes and products in advanced countries and in the world economy shifted attention towards technology as a basis for industrial growth and for future competitive advantage.

Now in the late 1980s, after several structural adjustment waves rolled over developing countries, it has become clear that the quality of human resources is the key asset and prerequisite for industrial development, and also for continued structural adjustment. The scope for industrialization based on natural resources and low-skilled, cheap labour is limited due to technological advance and changes in competitive conditions. Developing countries face a strong challenge to upgrade existing

skill profiles and training systems to meet requirements for new and higher skills in a rapidly changing world economy. Innovative approaches are necessary because of resource constraints in countries and in the United Nations system.

NGOs can help to ensure that women are an integral part of adjustments to new technology. Their participation must not be perceived as a separate or residual issue. They must be mobilized through new initiatives in human resource development.

## III. Situation of Women in Industry - Issues, Needs and Perspectives

Current issues relating to women in industry were presented by resource persons from centres and organizations engaged in research or in action programmes for women in developing countries. They were drawn from country-specific experiences as well as from global trends and new concepts in development. Constraints faced by women in industry, responses to challenges and perspectives for future action were discussed. The following is a summary of presentations and discussions.

### Impact of industrialization on women

It is apparent that industrialization has impacted differently on men and women, with adverse consequences for women in countries at all levels of development: in newly industrialized countries such as Mexico and Thailand, countries that have been affected by recent trends in industrialization like Sri Lanka, Nigeria and Zimbabwe, and countries in the very early stages of industrialization such as Bangladesh and Nepal. It is evident, too, that the problems and needs of women cannot be isolated from society at large: political systems, the vulnerability of Third World economies to global economic trends, and gender relations generally all play a role.

Contrary to the assumption that women have yet to be integrated in development, observation shows that women have been integrated, but on unequal terms. Women have always been tapped as an economic resource vital to growth, and they have contributed significantly to industrialization. At the same time, however, the importance attached to their child-rearing and home-management functions has worked to confine women to the household. This dichotomy of roles has been rationalized in the minds of policy makers, thus the increasing participation of women in industrialization within the existing framework of subordination and inequality has tended to increase the exploitation of female labour. Economic growth has not been synonymous with social and economic development, and material and technical progress have not necessarily ensured human development. UNIDO and NGOs should critically examine industrial

and labour policies from this perspective.

In all the countries represented, debt burdens, poverty and unemployment have resulted in poor standards of living for the majority of families. Escalating costs of basic necessities have increased the burdens of women in their struggle for family survival. Women have been relatively more vulnerable to the impact of macroeconomic and social policies which make expedient use of low cost labour as an economic "comparative advantage", and to the outcomes of export-led industrialization.

The international division of labour which has relocated labour-intensive industries to developing countries over the last two decades, and the "worldwide sourcing" by transnational companies for low cost labour, created a demand for cheap and compliant female workers. The restructuring of the international labour market in the late eighties is underscoring the vulnerability of women as economic resources. In Mexico, for instance, the economically active female population has been conentrated in the Export Processing Zones (EPZ) a result of these developments.

An illustration of the impact on women of policies such as export-led industrialization, promotion of private enterprise, and foreign investment and liberalization of imports was provided by the Sri Lankan experience. Traditional manufacturing (such as handlooms) failed to compete with imported products and industries collapsed, displacing thousands of women from their livelihood. Foreign investment within and outside EPZs gave employment to large numbers of women in urban factories, chiefly in the garment sector. As in other Asian EPZs, the majority of factory workers are young women between 18 and 25 years of age with secondary school education, whose "nimble fingers" are considered to be economic assets, but who have little opportunity for advancement from their depersonalizing and skill-retarding Now the imposition by industrialized countries of quotas on garment imports and a new restructuring of the international division of labour threaten to displace these women again from industry.

In the informal sector, women with initiative and resources have made successful inroads into the hitherto male-dominated world of entrepreneurs. Export Production Villages have linked the rural sector with the export economy to increase productivity, but have also extended the system of "putting out", or sub-contracting, piece work without adequate protection of home-based workers. Women in low income families engaged in athome piece work are not realizing the benefits of development. Vocational education and special training programmes have done little to assist women to make optimum use of industrial development. These views were shared by several resource persons.

Industrialization has also reinforced gender inequalities in the social structure of many countries. The gender division of labour both in the household and in the labour market operates as

a basis for perpetuating exploitative labour relations. The promotion of equity and the advancement of women must be part of strategies to accelerate industrialization.

Women are half the human resources of a country, but they have not been a conscious focus of policies to improve the quality of human resources for industrialization. Rising educational levels in these countries have done little so far to improve the position of women in industry, or to enhance their contribution to industrial development.

At a time when technological advance creates demands for higher industrial skill levels, two priority areas emerge. Specific measures need to be taken to expand education and training programmes in technological fields likely to play a key role in future industrial development. The education system has to use guidance and counselling schemes as a strategy to counter the influence of gender role stereotypes currently affecting the participation of women in vocational training. Education and training programmes as integral components of human resource planning can play an important role in ensuring that industry has a more positive impact on women and that women can become more active agents in overall development.

### Participation of women in industry

Women in almost all developing countries play a major role in industry, both as workers and entrepreneurs. Considerable inroads have been made in recent years with respect to the entry of some women into high and middle level employment and to new areas of economic activity, though the majority remain as general or unskilled labourers. Women in all countries have found employment in factories, chiefly in the textile and garment industries. Other sectors employing women include leather, ceramics, plastics, pharmaceuticals, food and beverages, electronics and construction related industries. Their participation in many branches of manufacturing is still, however, a new trend.

Rural industries, the "poor relatives" of modern industry, are the traditional forte of women. They are characterized by particularly low incomes. In Nigeria, Community Development Associations have been a strategy to promote this sector. In Zimbabwe, co-operatives have helped women to increase their productivity and income. In the Asian context, rural development strategies have focused on agriculture.

### Constraints and needs

As participant presentations showed, there exists a range of common problems facing women in industry which call for remedial action:

- (i) Men and women have different access to employment in industry due to gender division in the labour market and the concept of gender-appropriate jobs. Female entry into technical and managerial employment, for instance, has been slow.
- (ii) Policy makers and employers who perceive women as supplementary earners in families have been a major constraining influence. In fact, women in developing countries may be co-equal or principle earners in many low income and single-parent families. The economic role and contribution of women, therefore, tend to be undervalued. Employers are apt to perceive the reproductive role of women as a constraint on productivity and as an unnecessary addition to production costs.
- (iii) Women have been conditioned to have a poor image of themselves as economic producers. They lack awareness of their rights, and confidence in their ability to perform their multiple roles. They tend, therefore, to avoid the more remunerative but non-traditional areas of employment and also lend themselves to exploitation.
- (iv) Educational and training systems have assisted women very little to develop their potential and to ad ance their prospects in industry. The socialization process in education tends to enforce unequal gender relations, and gender role stereotypes channel women into economic activities perceived to be consonant with their traditional "service" role in the home. The underutilization of available facilities for technical skill upgrading confines women to a narrow range of skills which do not meet the demands of technology and industry. Model projects for training and income generation widely adopted in developing countries during the UN Decade for Women have not yet, by and large, achieved their aims.
- (v) Women are particularly vulnerable to displacement and marginalization by mechanization in urban and rural industries. There has been a lack of adequate planning to equip them with necessary skills, give them access to retraining programmes, or to make available alternative income earning opportunities.
- (vi) Women's prospects for promotion and upward mobility in industry have been limited.
- (vii) Though self-employment has been viewed frequently as a panacea for unemployment, women entrepreneurs or self-employed women have found access to credit difficult, as institutions often have a male bias and do not take into account the special problems of women. In some countries women lack property rights and have no assets, and the lack of collateral effectively debarrs them from loans. Mechanisms to channel credit to women in these situations have yet to evolve in many countries.
- (viii) Women in low income families engaged in home-based activities continue to be disadvantaged, as development programmes generally fail to provide them with access to capital

or credit, vocational training, equipment, market outlets and entrepreneurial skill development.

- (ix) In the process of accelerating industrialization, inadequate attention has been given to the working conditions of women. Labour laws existing in all countries have not been enforced in Export Processing Zones and in small-scale industries. Piece rate workers employed under the expanding "putting out" systems are outside the purview of these laws and are therefore even more vulnerable to exploitation. The principle of equal wages for equal work and the right to maternity leave and benefits have yet to be accepted by some employers. Also, new concerns have surfaced in modern industrial workplaces: night shifts, occupational health hazards such as eyestrain and pollution, accidents in handling machinery, and sexual harassment.
- (x) Women tend to be only passive members of trade unions and rarely participate in the collective bargaining processes which seek to improve the status of industrial workers. Trade unions are often not operating, or operate in deference to political interests or to economic pressures. This applies particularly in the case of EPZs.
- (xi) No adequate support services are available to assist women to combine their economic and domestic tasks. Gaps were noted in the provision of adequate child care facilities and in appropriate household technology to reduce the time and effort spent by women on domestic chores. Women's workload far exceeds that of men, as the concept of sharing household tasks is not yet widely accepted.
- (xii) There is a lack of research at international and national levels on the situation of women in industry and their needs, and on the modalities that can be adopted to accelerate industrialization without prejudice to the interests of women workers.

### Perspectives for change

The quality of human resources needs to be improved and creativity encouraged if industrial development is to have a more positive impact on societies in general and women in particular. Women need access to training and other inputs such as support services to realize their potential. To attain equality in the economy and in society, women must be empowered to change structures and relations which perpetuate gender inequalities. Some countries have responded to the challenge to begin meeting these objectives.

Skill development has emerged as the primary need to change a situation in which women are concentrated largely in semi-and unskilled work. Sweden has been innovative in retraining women to meet demands in industry created by technological

changes. AMU, an agency of the Swedish Ministry of Labour, operates through a network of regional branches and local centres to train men and women to meet the specific needs of local employers. As the existing gender dimension in the labour market places women at a disadvantage, special one-to-five month courses including teaching of theory and practical training have been developed to initiate women into non-traditional areas in industry. Course modules aim to equip women with skills in basic economics, technical knowledge, marketing and entrepreneurship. Women thus become qualified to fill middle level and leadership positions in industry.

Credit is essential if women are to engage in economically viable activities, especially those at higher levels. Some innovative credit mechanisms have been developed, such as Women's World Banking (WWB), a credit and technical assistance bank which operates on six centinents. WWB's objective is the economic self-sufficiency of women through provision of credit, technical training programmes, and a networking system with similar organizations. Modalities differ from country to country but the basic WWB idea includes a local affiliate, a "Loan Guarantee Scheme" or a revolving fund linked with a bank, training programmes for women in technical and entrepreneurial skills, and monitoring of loans. As yet WWB has assisted women chiefly in small-scale and agro-based industries, but it has also been instrumental in supporting entrepreneurship.

In Asia, two grass-roots level credit institutions have been created by innovative men and women: the Grameen Bank in Bangladesh, and the Women's Bank organized by the Self Employed Women's Association (SEWA) in India. SEWA seeks to organize the most economically and socially disadvantaged women to advance their own interests.

Workers' education programmes in several countries, such as Zimbabwe, have made women aware of the importance of trade unions in industrial relations. Mexican women have formed their own trade unions to defend their rights in response to a crisis, such as the earthquake of 1985. Women, who are the majority of workers in Mexican garment industries, were the worst affected by the earthquake, which led to hundreds of deaths when factories collapsed. Entrepreneurs fled with whatever they could salvage from the debris, and thousands of workers were dismissed or displaced. The National Garment Workers Union "19 of September" and the Women Workers United (MUTUAC) were responses to the challenges posed by the situation. The former has already won several collective contracts to safeguard the interests of women workers. The latter has founded a Centre that offers legal, medical and psychological services to women workers.

Efforts to mobilize women into groups (as distinct from trade unions) have been made in many countries. The Peruvian Centre "Flora Tristan", for example, makes women workers aware of the impact of economic crises on industries and the female labour force, and of the principles and consequences of gender division of labour. The Center promotes the organization of workers to

identify and formulate solutions to the problems they face. Research Centres in these countries are examining how social relations hinge on gender, and how they have led to female subordination. Multidisciplinary research studies help to identify factors that will promote industrialization and improve the status of women in industry.

NGOs can make a significant contribution to the process of sensitizing women to function as agents of change. They can operate as a pressure group to sensitize national and international policy makers, programme planners or administrators and employers to constraints preventing women from joining as equal partners in a development process that will promote industrialization, social justice, equity and human development.

### IV. Recommendations

### Working Group Sessions

Recommendations for action by UNIDO and by NGOs were formulated by the three working groups at two sessions, and were endorsed at the final plenary session of the Meeting.

The two working group sessions focused on:

- (a) Current conditions of women in industry; and
- (b) Needs, challenges and recommendations for action.

The following major problem areas in developing countries were identified as priorities for appropriate remedial strategies:

- (1) Women in industry are engaged largely in unskilled and semiskilled occupations at low wages and are vulnerable to displacement when technical innovations cause structural changes.
- (2) Socio-cultural norms (gender roles) promote:
  - (a) The image of women as supplementary or secondary earners despite the fact that women in developing countries are often primary income earners;
  - (b) unequal division of labour within the household, increasing the burden of working women;
  - (c) the invisibility of women in the informal sector in labour force statistics and in development plans;
  - (d) devaluing of women's paid and unpaid work.

- (3) Efforts to generate income in cottage industries are marginal, these being scattered and small in size.
- (4) The participation of women in skill development programmes designed to meet the emerging needs of industry is very limited.
- (5) Manufacture for export tends to be emphasized at the expense of product development for the domestic market, and transnational corporations in export-oriented industries show little concern for upgrading the skills of workers.
- (6) The human rights situation in many countries constrains political and social relations, including those between governments and NGOs.
- (7) When new forms of organization and production associated with industrialization are introduced, traditional values and cultural norms are often affected significantly.

In consonance with the discussions in the working groups, the following recommendations were suggested as measures to reduce constraints and to enhance the participation of women in industry as equal partners in development and as individuals with human rights and dignity.

### Recommendations addressed to UNIDO:

UNIDO is called upon to:

- (1) Assist national governments in their human resource rlanning to provide women with opportunities to develop their potential so as to increase their contribution to, and accelerate the pace of, industrial development. Assistance is needed in:
  - (a) developing an adequate gender-specific data base to reflect the participation of women in the formal and informal industrial sectors;
  - (b) identifying areas of future industrial growth so that programmes can be developed to equip women with necessary skills;
  - (c) initiating and supporting studies on the participation of women in industry, including case studies of successful experiences;
  - (d) promoting the sharing of experiences of different countries in running programmes for women in industry;
- (2) Promote the development of appropriate household and workplace technology, and dissemination of information pertaining to such technology in order to:

- (a) reduce the drudgery of women's production work without displacing them;
- (b) release women from time consuming household chores to enable them to participate more effectively in industrial development.
- (3) Support training programmes to meet the demands made by new technologies and to upgrade the skills of women in all industry-related activities: production, supervision, administration and research and quality control.
- (4) Monitor the impact of industrialization on women in developing countries and enter into a dialogue with transnational corporations with a view to improving the situation of women in industry.
- (5) Simplify procedures for identification, implementation and evaluation of projects designed to facilitate women's participation in development.
- (6) Use local expertise and work through NGOs to increase the effectiveness of UNIDO programmes at national and community level.
- (7) Increase the number of professional women working in UNIDO and sensitize UNIDO staff more intensively to the problems and needs of women in industry.

## Recommendations addressed to Non-governmental Organizations (NGOs)

NGOs are called upon to:

- (1) Function as catalysts of change by:
  - (a) lobbying national governments and international agencies to increase the participation of women as equal partners in industrial development;
  - (b) sensitizing employers to the constraints on and needs of women in industry;
  - (c) motivating women to participate in programmes that will enhance their contribution to industry as well as their position in the economy and society;
  - (d) helping women to be aware of their rights, to improve their self-concept and so raise their aspirations, and to challenge gender role stereotypes and unequal gender relations which limit individual development.

- (2) operate as pressure groups and "watchdogs" in:
  - (a) respecting UN conventions and national labour legislation;
  - (b) introducing legal measures to ensure access of women to credit;
  - (c) improving the working and living conditions of factorybased and home-based women workers;
  - (d) monitoring the impact of industrialization on women;
  - (e) providing UNIDO and other UN agencies with feedback on the progress of women in industry.
- (3) Use communication media extensively to disseminate information on emerging trends and gender-related issues in industry.
- (4) Mobilize funds and other resources for the support of programmes for women in industry.
- (5) Organize/support training programmes which address varying needs such as:
  - (a) basic education, skill upgrading and non-traditional and technical training programmes for younger women;
  - (b) functional literacy programmes for older women, and training to improve their productivity and income potential;
  - (c) retraining programmes to prevent the displacement of women from new industry technology;
  - (d) management and marketing skills for women entrepreneurs;
  - (e) special programmes for disabled women.
- (6) Provide a package of services to women in low income families in the informal sector to increase their contribution as primary income earners: access to capital/credit, teaching of industry-related vocational skills, technology, quality control, market know-how and entrepreneurship.
- (7) Assist in developing credit mechanisms along the lines of SEWA, Women's World Banking, and the Grameen Bank to provide revolving funds and venture capital, and to increase the number of women in banking.
- (8) Organize supportive services for women in industry:
  - (a) child care facilities;

- (b) information and access to appropriate household technology;
- (c) vocational councelling and guidance services;
- (d) leadership programmes;
- (e) advisory services for entrepreneurs.
- (9) Pressure trade unions to protect the interests of women, especially factory and piece rate workers in "putting out" industries.
- (10) Mobilize rural and urban women to form producer groups, entrepreneur groups or co-operatives, helping them to achieve self reliance and sustained economic and human development.

## UNIDO/NGO Meeting on Contribution of Women to Human Resource Development for Industry

### 22-23 March 1988 Vienna, Austria

### AGENDA

co-organized by UNIDO and United Nations Non-Governmental Liaison Service, New York with funding from the Governments of Netherlands and Norway.

### March 22, Tuesday, Conference Room II, Building C, 7th floor

9:00 Registration

9:30 Opening Session

- Opening Statement:

Horst Wiesebach,

Deputy Director-General

- Presentation on UNIDO initiatives re: women and industry

Baerbel Chambalu, Co-ordinator,

Integration of Women

in Industry
Hermann Muegge,
Head, Regional and
Country Studies

- Presentation of NGO Issues

Joyce Yu,

Consultant, UN-Nongovernmental Liaison

Service

- Presentation on NGO issues
- Outline of Meeting Agenda

### 11:00 Plenary Session I

Opening Remarks f.om Resource Persons

- Latin America

- Asia

- Africa

followed by open discussion

Elena Tapia

Swarna Jayaweera Dorothy Chiwandire

14:00	Film and Video showing Room:	C 0225 Film Studio
15:00	Plenary Session II: Responses to Industrial Development	
	Resource Panel Presentation	Brigitte Pettersen Evangelina Corona Margaretta Swigertt Mary Oto Lijadu
16:00	Working Groups I: Assessing responses to industrial development	•
17:30	Report of Working Groups I	

### March 23, Wednesday, Conference Room II, Building C, 7th floor

9:00	Registration	
9:30	Plenary Session III	
	Resource Panel Presentation on future challenges and needs	Patricia Portocarrero Siri Bunjong Farida Akhter Bina Pradhan
11:00	Working Groups II	
	<ul> <li>ways and means of enhancing women meeting their particular needs;</li> <li>areas of collaboration among NGO</li> </ul>	
12:30	Plenary session IV Report of Working Groups II	
14:00	Film and video showing Room	C 0225 Film Studio
15:00	Concluding Session Final Recommendations	
15:30	Adjournment	

ANNEX 2

## UNIDO/NGO Meeting on the Contribution of Women to Human Resource Development

### List of Participants

### NGO REPRESENTATIVES

Ms. Amina Adam Social Affairs Officer UNESCWA Baghdad Box 27 IRAQ

Mr. Giovanni Ballerio BAHA'I 15 Route des Morillons 1218 Geneva SWITZERLAND

Ms. Isabelle Baud Research Fellow Technical University of Eindhoven Post O. Box 513 5600 MB, Eindhoven THE NETHERLANDS

Ms. Natalia Berejnaia
Secretary for International Affairs
Women's International Democratic Federation
WIDF
13, Unter den Linden
1080 Berlin
GERMAN DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC

Ms. Yrsa Berner Chairperson UN Committee Associated Country Women of the World Kajaveien 33 1430 AS

~

Ms. Frida Yvonne Crampin U.N. Administrator International Federation of Business and Professional Women Buchanan House 24/30 Holborn London Elin 2HS UNITED KINGDOM OF GREAT BRITAIN

Ms. Eve Craske
International Co-ordinator,
Human Rights and Status of Women
Soroptimist International
87 Glisson Road
Cambridge CB1 2HG
UNITED KINGDOM OF GREAT BRITAIN

Ms. Jeannine De Boccard International Council of Women 12 Ch. Vert-Pre Conches SWITZERLAND

Ms. Kay Fraleigh
International Alliance of Women
777 UN Plaza - 8th floor
New York, N.Y. 10017
USA

Ms. Arvonne S. Fraser
Director
International Women's Rights Action Watch
Humphrey Institute
University of Minnesota
301, 19th Ave.So.
Minneapolis MN 55455
USA

Ms. Christine Gubitzer World Confederation of Labour OGB/Trade Union of Christian in Austria Hohenstaufengasse 10-12 1010 Vienna AUSTRIA Ms. Ashoka Gupta
President
All India Women's Conference
6 Bhagwandas Road
New Delhi
INDIA
Ms. Anna Matlelina Hlalele
Minister for Youth and Women's Affairs
Lesotho National Council of Women
P.O. Box 527
Maseru 100
LESOTHO

Ms. Marianne Haslegrave
Representative of UN in NY,
Member Advisory Group
CHANGE
55 Hay Moon Lane
London SE24
UNITED KINGDOM OF GREAT BRITAIN

Ms. Virginia Hazzard American Association of Retired Persons 926 Bloomfield Ave. # 7-J Glen Ridge New Jersey 07028 USA

Ms. Alke Heep Entwicklungshilfe-Klub Boeklinstr. 44 1020 Vienna AUSTRIA

Ms. Anne Herdt
International Council on Social Welfare
50 Grand Montfleury
1290 Versoix
SWITZERLAND
Headquarters:
Koestlergasse 29/1
1060 Vienna
AUSTRIA

Dkfm. Helga Herneth ZONTA INTERNATIONAL 557 West Randolph Street Chicago 60606-2284 USA Ms. Esther W. Hymer
Pan Pacific S.E. Asia Women's Association
297 Sycamore Ave.
Shrewsburg NJ 07701
USA

Dr. Musimbi Kanyoro Executive Secretary Lutheran World Federation 150 Route de Ferney 1211 Geneva 20 SWITZERLAND

Ms. Ursula Keller-Kuehlmann IAW Ottilienstr. 2 6380 Bad Homburg FEDERAL REPUBLIC OF GERMANY

Ms. Barbara Knudson Professor University of Minnesota 214 Social Science Bldg Minneapolis MN 55455 USA

Ms. Eve Kouidri Journalist Deutsche Welle Vienna AUSTRIA

Dr. Edith Krebs
International Confederation of Free Trade Unions
37-41 Rue Montagne aux Herbes Potageres
1000 Bruxelles
BELGIUM

Ms. Tilly Kretschmer-Dorninger Chief International Federation of Settlements and Neighbourhood Centre Wasagasse 11/9 1090 Vienna AUSTRIA Ms. Edeltrud Lawatsch Permanent delegate to the UN/Vienna Caritas International Caritas Austria Postfach 114 1011 Vienna AUSTRIA

Ms. Kei-Kit Leung
International Association of Schools
of Social Work
Palais Palffy
Josef Platz 6
1010 Wien
AUSTRIA

Dr. Anjuta Loetsch Medical Women International Association Sekretariat MWIA Herbert Lewin Strasse 1 5000 Koeln FEDERAL REPUBLIC OF GERMANY

Ms. Hellen Mariki TANZANIA

Ms. Maria Christina Mathiason Representative to UNOV Disabled Peoples' International Sinagasse 33/4 1220 Vienna AUSTRIA

Mag. Auguste Mayer ZONTA INTERNATIONAL 557 West Randolph Street Chicago 60606-2284 USA

Ms. Helga Mena-Bohdal Journalist Osterreichischer Informationsdiensv fuer Entwicklungslaender Entwicklungspolitische Nachrichten Tuchlauben 8 1010 Vienna AUSTRIA Ms. Anne Kimberlie Moutoux International Human Rights Internship Programme Humphrey Institute University of Minnesota New York, N.Y. USA

Ms. Patricia Bradley Neu CARE
8 Avenue Buyeaud
75116 Paris
France
and
660 First Avenue
New York, N.Y. 10016
USA

Dr. Anna Parova World Federation of Trade Unions Vinohradska 10 121 47 Prague 2 CZECHOSLOVAKIA

Dr. Maria Pollak
Permanent Delegate of the
International Federation of Business
and Professional Women
Saileraeckerg. 26/17
1190 Wien
AUSTRIA

Dr. Elisabeth Pomberger
Permanent Representative to the UN in Vienna
PAX ROMANA ICMICA IMCS
General Secretariat
B.P. 85
37-39, rue de Vermont
1211 Geneva 20 - CIC
SWITZERLAND

Ms. Brigitte Pross International Alliance of Women Hoehenstr. 22 6242 Kronberg FEDERAL REPUBLIC OF GERMANY Ms. Livia Ricci
Regional Co-ordinator for Europe
International Federation of Business
and Professional Women
Euchanan House
24/30 Holborn
London ECIN 2 HS
UNITED KINGDOM OF GREAT BRITAIN

Dr. Hilde Rosenmayr World Union of Catholic Women's Organizations (WUCWO) 20 Rue Notre-Dame-des-Champs Paris FRANCE

Ms. Mary Sawicki-Power Representative to the United Nations BAHA'I INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY 866 United Nations Plaza New York 10017 USA

Ms. Leila R. Seigel Hon. Vice-President International Council of Jewish Women 19, Rue de Teheran 75008 Paris FRANCE

Mr. Wolfgang Spitaler PAX ROMANA Neulinggasse 15/17 1030 Vienna AUSTRIA

Ms. Sigrid Stadler Director Institut fur Studien in Salzburg Joh. Filzerstr. 26 5020 Salzburg AUSTRIA

Ms. Eleni Stamiris Director Mediterranean Women's Studies Institute (KEGME) 192B Leof Alexandras GR11521 Athens GREECE Mr. Czeslaw Stefaniak Senior Adviser Central Union of Work Co-operatives Foreign Relations Department Zurawia Str. 47 00-680 Warsaw POLAND

Ms. Anne Touwen
Observer for International Federation
of University Women
37 Quai Wilson
1201 Geneva
SWITZERLAND
and
For mail:
Research Fellow
Promotic Werkplaats
Rijksuniversiteit Groningen
O. Boteringestraat 71
9712 GG Groningen
THE NETHERLANDS

Ms. Padma Venkataraman All India Women's Conference Sieveringerstr. 45/2/3 1190 Vienna AUSTRIA

Ms. Esther von Wartburg Soroptimist International 87 Glisson Road Cambridge CB1 2HG UNITED KINGDOM OF GREAT BRITAIN

Ms. Gertrude Wagner International Organization of Consumer Union (IOCV) Emman Straat 9 2595 EC The Hague NETHERLANDS

Ms. Antje Wiener Free University of Berlin c/o Bommer Ansbacherstrasse 63 1000 Berlin 30 FEDERAL REPUBLIC OF GERMANY Ms. Rita Wiesinger
Representative to UN
Association for the Study of the World
Refugee Problem (AWR)
Schuettaustr. 1/10/6
1220 Vienna
AUSTRIA

### RESOURCE PERSONS

### **ASIA**

Ms. Farida Akhter
Policy Research for Development Alternative
UBINIG
5/3, Barabo Mahanpur
Ring Road, Shaymoli
Dhaka-7
BANGLADESH

Ms. Siri Bunjong Action for Asian Cultural Forum on Development G.P.O. Box 2930 Bangkok 10501 THAILAND

Ms. Swarna Jayaweera Centre for Women's Research, (CENWOR), Sri Lanka 125 Kirula Road Colombo 5 SRI LANKA

Ms. Bina Pradhan Centre For Women and Development P.O. Box 3637 Kathmandu NEPAL

### **AFRICA**

Ms. Dorothy Chiwandire Silveria House P.O. box 545 Harare ZIMBABWE

Ms. Mary Lijadu
International Women's Grail Movement
P.O. Box 3702
Lagos
and
P.O. Box 7415
Marina, Lagos
NIGERIA

Dr. Najib Said Director, Adviser for Internatinal Affairs Union Tunisienne de l'Industrie, du Commerce et de l'Artisanat (UTICA) 103 Avenue de la Liberte Tunis TUNISIA

Ms. Margaretta Swigert-Gacheru Consultant Women's World Banking Bima House, 8th floor P.O. Box 55919 Nairobi KENYA

### LATIN AMERICA

Ms. Evangelina Corona President Sindicato 19 de Septiembre San Antonio Abad No. 151 Colonia Obrera Mexico DF 068900 MEXICO

Ms. Irma Lerma Flores
Asociacion de Mujeres de Yucatan (AMY)
22 # 101 x 17
Col. Mexico Ote.
Merida, Yuc.
MEXICO

Ms. Patricia Portocarrero Flora Tristan Women's Centre Centro de la Mujer Peruana "Flora Tristan" Parque Hernan Velarde 42 Lima PERU

Ms. Elena Tapia
President
Mujeres Trabajadoras Unidas A.C.
Alma Norte 402
Despacho 12
Esquina con Donceles, Centro
Mexico City, D.F.
MEXICO

### **EUROPE**

Ms. Britta Margareta Pettersson National Employment Training AMU Boras Tvinnargatan 4 510 54 Bramhult SWEDEN

### SECRETARIAT:

Ms. Baerbel Chambalu Co-ordinator Integration of Women in Industrial Development UNIDO P.O. Box 300 A-1400 Vienna International Center Vienna, Austria

Ms. Joyce Yu Consultant Non-governmental Liaison Service, New York United Nations Two United Nations Plaza DC2-1103 New York, N.Y. 10017

Mr. Thierry Lemaresquier Co-ordinator Non-governmental Liaison Service, Geneva United Nations Villa les Feuillantines Palais des Nations 1211 Geneva 10 Switzerland

### Profiles of Resource Persons

Farida Akhter is presently the Executive Director of a research organization, UBINIG (Policy Research for Development Alternatives) in Dhaka, Bangladesh. The Centre is involved in research on policy issues including those concerning women and development, and liaises between policy-makers and the people.

Evangelina Corona Cadena was a factory worker for many years before she became in 1985 the General Secretary of the Garment Workers' Trade Union "19 of September" formed in September 1985 after the earthquake in Mexico City had devastated the area in which the garment industries were located.

Dorothy Chiwandire is an Industrial Relations Education Officer in Zimbabwe. She is closely involved in the education of women in industrial relations and in trade unionism.

Blena Tapia Fonlem is the President of a Women's Organization in Mexico, Mujeres Trabajadores Unidas" (Women Workers United), founded in 1984 with the aim to organize women wage-earners and to improve their living and working conditions. For a number of years she has been conducting courses for women workers in the public sector and in the garment industries on women's rights, living and working conditions of women and on trade unionism.

Swarna Jayaweera was formerly Professor of Education in the University of Colombo, Sri Lanka, and UNESCO Adviser in Nepal, and UNIEF consultant in Nepal, Maldives and Sri Lanka. She is at present the Co-ordinator of the Centre for Women's Research (CENWOR), Sri Lanka, established in 1984 to carry out policy and action oriented research and to disseminate information pertaining to women.

Irma Lerma Flores is a founding member of the "Associacion de Mujeres de Yucatan" (Association of Women on Yucatan) in Mexico. She also works as a University teacher in micro economics and macro economics.

Mary Oto Lijadu has been a teacher in Nigeria, England and France and Education Officer in the Ministry of Education and the British Council in Nigeria, and is currently the organizer of a neighbourhood playgroup. She has been actively involved in Women's Associations in Nigeria and, in particular, in a women's project in Lagos which equips women with skills to engage in small scale industries.

Britta Pettersson is a teacher at the AMU-Boras and also works with "Equality in Training and Education" within AMU. Interested in politics, she was quite active a few years ago and is now a member of the jury of the City Court. She has been a member of International Federation of Business and Professional Women for many years. She works actively as a negociator in the Trade Union of SACO (the Swedish Academicians Central Organization).

Patricia Portocarrero is a Sociologist and a University teacher in Peru. She has been engaged in research on development issues and on women and development, and is involved since 1978 in the work of a feminist non-governmental centre, Flora Tristan.

Bina Pradhan was a member of the staff of Tribhuvan University in Kathmandu, Nepal and is the founder and Executive Director of the Centre for Women and Development established in 1983 in Kathmandu. The Centre is engaged in research on women and development and in establishing networks in South and South East Asia.

Bujnong Siri is a social worker in Thailand. She is at present the Regional Co-ordinator of the Women's Programmes of the Asian Cultural Forum on Development (ACFOD) which has its headquarters in Bangkok, Thailand.

Margaretta Swigert-Gacheru was a journalist in Kenya and is at present a Consultant in the African Regional Department of Women's World Banking (WWB/A), assisting in mobilizing women entrepreneurs to utilize the credit and technical seminars available in the WWB/A network. She is Co-editor of the WWB/Z Newsletter which disseminates information on women's organizations and economic development activities in the African region.

## UNIDO ACTIVITIES FOR THE INTEGRATION OF WOMEN IN INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT

Since the adoption by the General Assembly of the Nairobi Forward-Looking Strategies, UNIDO has undertaken a series of activities to increase the integration of women into industrial development in the developing countries. To a large degree, the programme of these activities has been dependent on special contributions from individual countries.

A key measure was the establishment of a Unit for the Intergration of Women in Industrial Development, in the Department for Programme and Project Development, to develop, promote, co-ordinate and monitor the Secretariat's activities for the integration of women.

The activities of the Unit have led to a greater awareness throughout the Secretariat of the issue of women in industrial development and of the mobilization of resources from Governments for its programme of activities. As a result, increasing attention is being given to the subject in the major activities of UNIDO (such as technical co-operation, studies and research, and the System of Consultations). Some specific activities in this context have been the following:

- (1) The elaboration of Guidelines on the Integration of Women in UNIDO Technical Co-operation Projects and in Industrial Studies Programmes and Research (UNIDO/PC.31/Rev.1/Add.1) to take into account the participation of women in all UNIDO activities;
- (2) The initiation of a data base on women in industry to support programme and project development;
- (3) The development of a staff sensitization Programme designed to increase the awareness and understanding of staff at headquarters and in the field of women's role and contribution as agents and beneficiaries of industrial development, inter alia, with a view to facilitating the application of the Guidelines referred to above.

Through voluntary contributions received from Governments, it has been possible to increase the number of technical cooperation programmes and projects directly addressing issues pertinent to women's needs in terms of production technology and management skills. A training programme for women entrepreneurs/managers in micro-scale and medium-scale industries has been developed. Study and research activities have focused increasingly on priority issues for women's participation at both the country and specific industrial subsector levels.

Sectoral analyses of the role and condition of women's participation in industrial development were initiated with an analysis of the agro-industries subsector. An Expert Group Meeting on Women in Agro-Industries, funded by the Governments of Norway and the Netherlands, was held in Vienna in October 1985. It resulted in important recommendations for the integration of women in medium- and small-scale industries and in particular the informal agro-industrial sector. The sectoral analyses were continued with a study on the participation of women in the fisheries industry, which was prepared in conjunction with a survey on the fisheries industrial system and presented to the First Consultation on the Fisheries Industry, held at Gdansk, Poland, in June 1987.

A study on the impact on women of the introduction of new technologies in the textile and clothing industries has been undertaken. This subsector employs the largest number of women in developing countries. The study examines the process of innovation and structural change in the textile and clothing industries, and tries to assess future skill requirements and gender distribution within the industries. It will be the basis for a series of country case studies.

Three country case studies were conducted on the current and prospective contribution of women to human resources in industrial development to obtain a factual basis and develop an effective policy approach for increasing the participation of women in industry.

### FUTURE PROJECTS

The data gathered and experience gained from these activities have led to an appreciation of the need to assess and promote --through policy measures, advisory services, skill development programmes, technical co-operation, study and research and promotional activities-- more systematically women's participation in industrial development at international, regional and national levels. Future endeavours of UNIDO for the Integration of women will focus on the following priority areas:

- (1) An increasing number of UNIDO technical co-operation projects, studies and promotional activities taking into account women's role and contribution;
- (2) Advisory services, skill development programmes, technical co-operation projects, studies and promotional activities specifically designed to promote the advancement of women in industry;
- (3) Staff sensitization courses on the role and contribution of women in industrial development;

- (4) A study programme to evaluate the role and contribution of women to industrial development on regional and country levels, and on the impact of industrial development strategies and programmes on the participation of women in specific industrial subsectors;
- (5) A programme for managerial and entrepreneurial skill development for women, transferred to a number of countries in Africa, Asia and Latin America;
- (6) A programme to improve technologies for rural women with a view to alleviating their daily work and to promoting income generating activities.
- (7) A data base on the role and contribution of women to industrial development both on a regional and sectoral level as a factual basis for programme and project development.